FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
5/29/2019 8:46 AM  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

S. Ct. No.97265-6  
COA No. 31487-1-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ADAM EDWIN POWELL,

Petitioner.

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

Kenneth H. Kato, WSBA # 6400  
Attorney for Petitioner  
1020 N. Washington St.  
Spokane, WA 99201  
(509) 220-2237

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Adam Edwin Powell asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Powell seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division III, filed on April 30, 2019, affirming his conviction and sentence. A copy of the opinion is in the Appendix.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Was Mr. Powell's right to public trial violated when the trial court held improper sidebars discussing substantive rather than mundane issues and failed to promptly memorialize the discussions?

2. Was the State's evidence insufficient to support the conviction of second degree murder?

3. Did the court err by imposing an exceptional sentence?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Powell incorporates by reference the statement of the case in his appellant's brief. More particular facts will be referenced in the argument on the public trial issue, which is the focus of this petition for review.

## E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Mr. Powell asks this Court to accept review because the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with other appellate decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

A criminal defendant has a right to a public trial under the Constitutions of the United States and Washington State. *State v. Lormor*, 172 Wn.2d 85, 90-91, 257 P.3d 624 (2011); U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wash. Const. art.1 § 22. Article 1, section 10 of the Washington State Constitution also guarantees that justice in all cases shall be administered openly. *State v. Frawley*, 181 Wn.2d 452, 458-59, 334 P.3d 1022 (2014).

Whether a defendant's public trial right has been violated is a question of law reviewed de novo. *State v. Wise*, 176 Wn.2d 1, 9, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012). The question involves a three-part inquiry: "(1) Does the proceeding at issue implicate the public trial right? (2) If so, was the proceeding closed? And (3) If so, was the closure justified?" *State v. Smith*, 181 Wn.2d 508, 521, 334 P.3d 1049 (2014).

The proceeding at issue, jury selection, implicates the public trial right. *Wise*, 176 Wn.2d at 16-19. The next inquiry is whether the proceeding was closed. Although characterized as sidebars,

the unrecorded conferences between counsel and the trial judge were not “proper sidebars” or their equivalent. *Smith*, 181 Wn.2d at 515-17. They were improper because mundane issues implicating little public interest were not their focus as they involved more than just scheduling, housekeeping, and decorum. *State v. Whitlock*, 188 Wn.2d 511, 513-14, 396 P.3d 310 (2017). These conferences were not recorded or promptly memorialized. (See 4/21/17 RP 5, 9, 10, 14, 17, 21, 24, 26, 27; CP 1053, 1064, 1066; 9/28/17 RP 9; CP 1070).

On January 30, 2013, two sidebars were held at 12:21 and 12: 22 p.m. (1/30/13 RP 524-25). The prosecutor could not recall what was discussed at any of the sidebar conferences. (CP 1064, 1066). Defense counsel also had no specific recollection, but attempted to infer what happened from the context. (CP 1053-63). At the hearing on the motion to settle the record, the judge found the sidebars at 12:21 and 12:22 likely concerned scheduling, but one of the jurors was excused. (CP 1083-86). Defense counsel thought the first unrecorded sidebar involved a prospective juror who was a relative of one of the testifying deputies, but he would not have asked to excuse that juror without Mr. Powell’s approval. (CP 1055-56). Excusing a juror for cause is not a mundane issue

and implicates the jury selection process, which must be open and public. *Wise, supra.*

The next unrecorded sidebar was on January 31, 2013, at 2:44 p.m. (CP 1057). Defense counsel had no specific independent recollection of what took place, but inferred from context it had to do with excusing a juror for cause because of his personal trauma and experience with issues critical to Mr. Powell's case. (CP 1057). Counsel believed he then asked that the juror be excused. (CP 1058). The court noted this sidebar was not later put on the record. (CP 1089-93). Excusing a juror is not a mundane issue and was not a subject for a "proper sidebar." *Whitlock*, 188 Wn.2d at 513-14.

On February 1, 2013, there were three unrecorded sidebars at 11:06 a.m., 11:22 a.m., and 11:44 a.m. (CP 1058). Defense counsel could not specifically recall what was discussed at sidebar, but surmised it had to do with the court's denial of his challenge of a juror for cause. (CP 1059). Counsel thought the court wanted to put his comments on the record. (*Id.*). With respect to the second sidebar, defense counsel again had no specific independent recollection of what was discussed, but inferred from the context that it had to do with timing. On the other hand, the court indicated

it was reversing its ruling as to excusing a juror, whereupon the sidebar took place. (2/1/13 RP 751; CP 1060, 1093-94). Defense counsel further inferred the State intended to bring a *Batson* challenge, which the court said would be decided with the jury out. (CP 1060, 1096).

As to the third unrecorded sidebar, counsel thought it had to do with confirming the list of selected jurors. (CP 1061). The court thought so too. (CP 1098-1101). This last sidebar appears to be “proper” in that only a mundane issue was involved. *Whitlock*, 188 Wn.2d at 514.

As to the other two sidebars on February 1, 2013, it is clear they involved a challenge for cause and a *Batson* challenge by the State. These are not mundane housekeeping matters. Rather, they deal with the substantive process of excusing a juror for cause and a *Batson* challenge implicating Mr. Powell’s right to public trial. *Wise, supra*.

The Court of Appeals determined four of these unrecorded sidebars did implicate the public trial right. (Op. at 20).

The constitutional right to an open courtroom does not require trial courts to invite the public to attend sidebars as they have not historically been open to the public and allowing such



access would play no positive role in the proceedings. *Smith*, 181 Wn.2d at 511. But “proper sidebars” involve just mundane issues implicating little public interest, such as scheduling, housekeeping, and decorum. *Whitlock*, 188 Wn.2d at 513-14. With two exceptions, the unrecorded sidebars were not mundane, but involved discussion of excusing jurors for cause and a *Batson* challenge by the State. These sidebars were discussions of substantive issues that resulted in a closure where the public was excluded, when it had an interest in an open jury selection process. Thus, the sidebars were not “proper” and resulted in a closure. *Whitlock*, 188 Wn.2d at 521-22.

The improper sidebars were also not recorded or promptly memorialized. (CP 1070-1110). This is required by *Whitlock*. 188 Wn.2d at 523-24. The resulting courtroom closure occurred without a *Bone-Club* analysis. *Id.* at 520. Without such an analysis, a closure will almost never be considered justified. *Id.* at 521. There was no justification for the courtroom closure through the improper sidebars and was structural error requiring reversal. *Id.* at 524.

The Court of Appeals faults Mr. Powell and the State for failing to address the second prong of the public trial inquiry. (Op.

at 20). But *Whitlock* answers the second prong as the failure to record or promptly memorialize what took place at these sidebars constitutes a closure. 188 Wn.2d at 520-21.

The Court of Appeals then stated it disagreed the trial court failed to memorialize all four remaining sidebar conferences. The court is incorrect. The trial judge herself indicated the first sidebar on January 31, 2013, was not later put on the record. There was a perfunctory attempt to put on the record the substance of some of the unrecorded sidebars, but all of the sidebars were not memorialized until the trial court held a hearing on Mr. Powell's motion to settle the record. Common sense tells us if the Court of Appeals thought the sidebars had been memorialized, the motion to settle the record would have been totally unnecessary and his motion denied in the first instance.

The Court of Appeals deemed *State v. Anderson*, 194 Wn. App. 547, 377 P.3d 278 (2017), controlling. It is not. The court based its decision on this factor: "the trial court summarized the sidebar proceedings on the record and in open court." (Op. at 22). But careful review of the record shows the trial court failed to memorialize promptly the substance of the sidebars. This failure led to the Court of Appeals granting Mr. Powell's motion to settle

the record as there was simply no record. That takes this case out of *Anderson*, which is not controlling as erroneously determined by the Court of Appeals.

More disturbing is the court failed to realize the importance of the distinction:

The only distinction between *Anderson* and our facts in this case is that the trial court did not contemporaneously declare for the record what occurred at the final three sidebars. Nonetheless, one can infer from the record preceding and succeeding the sidebar conferences the subject of the conferences. The trial court later confirmed those purposes. (Op. at 22).

The whole purpose of putting matters on the record is to have a contemporaneous verbatim report of what was said in court proceedings so meaningful review can be undertaken by the appellate court without guessing. Neither the judge, the prosecutor, nor defense counsel could recall the purpose of the sidebars. Rather, the defense speculated as to what may have happened. The judge and deputy prosecutor recalled nothing. The trial court's confirmation of these purposes after the hearings on the motion to settle the record were, like the Court of Appeals' opinion, based on guessing and inference. The defendant is appealing a murder conviction and the trial record should not be based on guess and inference. But this is exactly what the Court of Appeals relied on to