FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
6/27/2019 4:15 PM  
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON  
CLERK

NO. 97265-6

THE SUPREME COURT OF  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,  
Respondent  
v.

ADAM EDWIN POWELL,  
Appellant/Petitioner.

---

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW  
BY YAKIMA COUNTY

---

David B. Trefry  
WSBA #16050  
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
P.O. Box 4846  
Spokane, WA 99220

JOSEPH A. BRUSIC  
Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney  
128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329  
Yakima, WA 98901-2621

A. INTRODUCTION.

ISSUES PRESENTED BY PETITION

1. Is Dismissal proper at this time?
2. Does dismissal at the time unfairly curtail Mr. Perez Gomez's right to file any necessary future collateral appeals?
3. Does the Judge's Misinterpretation of the State's motion to remand that at no time previously had asked for dismissal as a condition of remand to vacate his conviction prejudice Mr. Perez Gomez?

ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED BY PETITION

1. Dismissal is proper.
2. Dismissal does not curtail any future right of Petitioner.
3. The Court of Appeals did not misinterpret the State's motion.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner stayed this matter to address several side-bar conferences which were not recorded at the time they occurred. The State hereby adopts the facts as set forth in the decision of the Court of Appeals as attached in Appendix A.

C. ARGUMENT

As with a direct appeal, acceptance of review of the Court of Appeals opinion is governed by RAP 13.4(b). This rule sets forth the manner and mechanism for review of a decision by the Court of Appeals terminating review.

This case does not meet any of the criterion set forth in RAP

13.4(b) Criminal defendants have a right to a public trial under both the *United States Constitution* and the Washington State Constitution. State v. Lormor, 172 Wn.2d 85, 90-91, 257 P.3d 624 (2011); *U.S. Const, amend. VI*; *Wash. Const.* art. I, § 22. Whether a defendant's public trial right has been violated is a question of law reviewed de novo. State v. Wise, 176 Wn.2d 1, 9, 288 P.3d 1113 (2012).

To answer that question, this court engages in a three-part inquiry: "(1) Does the proceeding at issue implicate the public trial right? (2) If so, was the proceeding closed? And (3) if so, was the closure justified?" State v. Smith, 181 Wn.2d 508, 521, 334 P.3d 1049 (2014). If the court concludes that the right to a public trial does not apply to the proceeding at issue, it need not reach the second and third steps in the analysis. Smith, 181 Wn.2d at 521.

"[N]ot every interaction between the court, counsel, and defendants will implicate the right to a public trial or constitute a closure if closed to the public." State v. Sublett. 176 Wn.2d 58, 71, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). To determine whether the public trial right attaches, this court will apply the "experience and logic" test. Under the experience prong, this court will consider whether the proceeding at issue has historically been open to the public. Under the logic prong, this court is tasked with asking, "whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the

particular process in question." Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73 (quoting Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court, 478 U.S. 1, 8, 106 S.Ct. 2735, 92 L.Ed.2d 1 (1986)). Only if both prongs are satisfied, the public trial right attaches. Sublett, 176Wn.2dat73.

Powell comes before this court requesting review of the Court of Appeals decision denying his direct appeal. The opinion issued by that court does not conflict with other appellate decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

Powell sets forth three issue but only addresses one. This court does not review errors alleged but not argued, briefed, or supported with citation to authority. RAP 10.3; Valente v. Bailey, 74 Wn.2d 857,858,447 P.2d 589 (1968); Meeks v. Meeks, 61 Wn.2d 697, 698, 379 P.2d 982 (1963); Avellaneda v. State, 167 Wn. App. 474, 485 n.5, 273 P.3d 477 (2012).

Appellate courts are precluded from considering such alleged errors. Hollis v. Garwall, Inc., 137 Wn.2d 683, 689 n.4, 974 P.2d 836 (1999); Escude v. King County Public Hospital District No. 2, 117 Wn. App. 183, 190 n.4, 69 P.3d 895 (2003).

RAP 10.3(a)(6) directs each party to supply, in his brief, "argument in support of the issues presented for review, together with citations to legal authority and references to relevant parts of the record." We do not consider conclusory arguments that are unsupported by citation to

authority. Joy v. Department of Labor & Industries, 170 Wn. App. 614,629,285 P.3d 187 (2012). Passing treatment of an issue or lack of reasoned argument is insufficient to merit judicial consideration. West v. Thurston County, 168 Wn. App. 162, 187, 275 P.3d 1200 (2012); Holland v. City of Tacoma, 90 Wn. App. 533, 538, 954 P.2d 290 (1998).

Therefore, this court need not address the allegations two and three and should decline to address this assignment of error.

### **Sidebars**

RAP 13.4(b) sets forth the basis for review;

(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review. A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals decision states:

Under Washington law, the trial court may discuss for cause challenges outside the hearing of the jury panel and the public and perform preemptory challenges on paper without an appellate court declaring a closure. State v. Love, 183 Wn.2d at 607. The Love court stated:

Yet the public had ample opportunity to oversee the selection of Love's jury because no portion of the process

was concealed from the public; no juror was questioned in chambers. To the contrary, observers could watch the trial judge and counsel ask questions of potential jurors, listen to the answers to those questions, see counsel exercise challenges at the bench and on paper, and ultimately evaluate the empaneled jury. The transcript of the discussion about for cause challenges and the struck juror sheet showing the peremptory challenges are both publicly available. The public was present for and could scrutinize the selection of Love's jury from start to finish, affording him the safeguards of the public trial right missing in cases where we found closures of jury section State v. Love, 183 Wn.2d at 607.

There is nothing in this opinion which conflict with any other decision of this court or the court of appeals.

Under article I, section 22 of the Washington State Constitution and the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, a criminal defendant has a right to a "public trial by an impartial jury." State v. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d 58, 70-71, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). "[N]ot every interaction between the court, counsel, and defendants will implicate the right to a public trial or constitute a closure if closed to the public." Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 71.

Before determining whether a violation of a public trial right occurred, the reviewing court must first consider whether the proceeding at issue implicates the right. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 71.

Here Powell had the burden of proving that the public trial right attaches to the proceeding at issue. State v. Love, 183 Wn.2d, 598, 605,



354 P.3d 841 (2015). Recent public trial cases establish a methodology for determining whether a proceeding implicates the public trial right. See State v. Wilson, 174 Wn.App. 328, 335, 298 P.3d 148(2013).

First, the court may examine whether the proceeding "fall[s] within a specific category of trial proceedings that our Supreme Court has already established implicates the public trial right." Wilson, 174 Wn.App. at 335. If not, then the court applies the experience and logic test. Wilson, 174 Wn.App. at 335. Under this test:

[T]he experience prong . . . asks "whether the place and process have historically been open to the press and general public." The logic prong asks "whether public access plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question." If the answer to both is yes, the public trial right attaches. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73 (internal citations omitted).

The test allows the determining court to consider the actual proceeding, not merely the label given to the proceeding. Sublett, 176 Wn.2d at 73.

The matters discussed in several of the sidebars were minor ministerial issues that were limited in content to a sidebar's traditional subject areas. This Court has held that public trial rights are not implicated when parties exercise preemptory challenges at a sidebar. State v. Love, 183 Wn.2d 598, 607, 354 P.3d 841 (2015), *cert. denied*, 136 S.Ct. 1524 (2016). Additionally, privately addressing juror recusals for illness

or other juror hardships does not implicate public trial rights. State v. Wilson, 174 Wn.App. 328, 342, 298 P.3d 148, (2013), *review denied*, 184 Wn.2d 1026 (2016).

The opinion issued in this case does not conflict with any case and clearly this court has determined, by its denial of review, that the opinion in Love is the law of this state, the Powell followed the reasoning in Love. Powell disputes whether Love is applicable, it is.

Here, as in *Love*, the public was able to (1) observe the questioning of jurors, (2) listen to the jurors' answers, (3) visually observe counsel exercise their for-cause challenges at the bench, and (4) evaluate the composition of the empaneled jury. 183 Wn.2d at 607. Although the sidebars were not recorded when remand occurred all parties were allowed to address what had occurred. This process too was in open court. The trial court's summary, which was later sent to the Court of Appeals, summarized, to the best of the parties recollection, what had occurred. This summary permitted the public to scrutinize the process in much the same manner as a verbatim transcription of the arguments would have allowed. *See State v. Anderson*, 194 Wn.App. 547, 552-53, 377 P.3d 278 (2016) (holding that there was no closure when the proceedings were held in open court and the trial court described the results of the sidebar on the record).

There was no violation of the defendant's right to a public trial, the record was recreated affording the ability to challenge what occurred in the trial court, what occurred did not violate Powell's rights and certainly the opinion does not conflict with any other case.

There was no closure occurred.

#### D. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision in this case conflicts with no other case, it properly addressed the issue raised by Powell, that court allowed the record to be reconstructed and Powell was represented throughout the process of that reconstruction. There is no basis to grant review in this case.